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UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 00-51177

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

| SMAEL HOLGUI N HERRERA,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Texas

April 17, 2002

Bef ore SM TH and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges, and DUPLANTIER, ! District
Judge.

DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

In a superseding indictnent returned on June 21, 2000,
Appel lant Ismael Holguin Herrera (“lIsnmael”), along with Cctavio
Herrera (“Cctavio”), Sergio Juarez, Jesus Lucero (“Lucero”), and
four other individuals were charged in Count 1 with, from 1986 to

on or about Decenber 9, 1999, conspiracy to distribute nore than
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500 grans of cocaine, in violation of 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and
846. | smael and Lucero were charged in Count 14 for aiding and
abetting each other in the attenpt to commt the offense of
possession with intent to distribute nore than 500 grans of
cocaine, in violation of 18 U S.C. §8 2 and 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)(1)
and 846. Finally, Ismael was charged in Count 16 with, on or about
Decenber 9, 1999, know ngly possessing three specified firearns
whi | e an unl awful “user” of a controll ed substance, in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 922(9)(3).

| smael was tried by hinself and was convicted of the three
charged offenses by a jury. In a judgnent filed on Novenber 3
2000, he was sentenced by the district court to inprisonnment for 78
nmont hs on each count, to be served concurrently, supervised rel ease
for four years as to Counts 1 and 14, and three years as to Count

16, to be served concurrently. |smael now appeals his conviction.

BACKGROUND
The Appellant, |Isnael Herrera, also known as “Ish,” was born
i n Chi huahua, Mexico, in 1950, and |ater becanme a naturalized
citizen of the United States. In the early 1990s, Isnmael began
wor ki ng as a paralegal in the Odessa, Texas, office of the Herrera
Law Firm operated by his nephew, Jesse Herrera. “Rick” I|gnacio
Lopez was an undercover agent for Sergeant Val enzuela in Odessa,

Texas. Lopez told Val enzuela that he could nake drug purchases



from“the Herrera famly” and that he had know edge that Octavio
Herrera®? was a cocaine dealer. He had gained this know edge
through multiple interactions with Cctavio, including an encounter
with Ismael (in which Isnmael indicated that he believed Lopez to be
a “snitch”). These interactions took place in the early nineties.
In 1998, Lopez got reacquainted with Cctavio and started “hangi ng
out with hinf at GCctavio's Gardendal e ranch® and other places

Late in 1998, Lopez asked COctavio if he could sell him sone
cocai ne. Cctavio instead offered to sell Lopez marijuana,
apparently stating that “it was easier for him[CGctavio] to control
the marijuana and that his Uncle Ish would have to get the
cocai ne.” Subsequent to a sale of two pounds of marijuana, Lopez
was abl e to make purchases of cocaine from Cctavi o.

Over the next several nonths, fromDecenber 1998 to July 1999,
Lopez purchased cocaine from Cctavio six tinmes. Lopez also made
under cover purchases of three or four ounces of cocaine fromJesus
Lucero.* In conjunction with these undercover operations, the

authorities also were intercepting the Herrera famly’ s tel ephone

2Cctavio Herrera (Jesse Herrera's brother) is Isnmael’s nephew
and I snael has testified that he knew Octavio to be i nvolved in the
sal e of narcotics.

’The Gardendal e ranch was given to Cctavio by Isnmael in the
early nineties and, according to the governnent, is where many drug
sal es took pl ace.

4Jesus Lucero is also Isnmael’s nephew who worked with him at
the Herrera Law Firmas a “runner.” |Ismael has also testified that
Lucero is a drug deal er.



conversations. |In one conversation, intercepted on June 19, 1999,
Jesse Herrera instructed Octavio, “You nust call Ish to see if he
has any Z's.” Sergeant Mario Tinajero of the Texas Departnent of
Public Safety (“DPS’) testified that “Zs” is a slang word

referring to ounces (short for “0z.’s”) and that the conversation
was in reference to cocaine. After this conversation, surveillance
revealed that Octavio went to Ismmel’s residence. Anot her
conversation, intercepted on June 21, 1999, revealed Ismael telling
Cctavio, “I’"lIl gowith you and we can readily nake a deal and we’ ||
park it over here.” Sergeant Tinajero testified that the
conversation appeared, fromhis experience, to be inrelationto a
drug deal

Pursuant to these events, an undercover officer, Sergeant
Teofilo Garcia, Jr., was introduced to Lucero. Lopez introduced
Garcia as his cousin Thomas fromout of town, and Garcia, acting in
hi s undercover capacity, negotiated with Lucero to purchase three
ounces of cocaine for $2,100 on July 2, 1999. This deal was
conpl eted and a second negoti ati on took place at M| o’ s Restaurant
in Odessa. This tine, Garcia asked for one kil ogram of cocai ne.
Lucero informed Garcia that he could nmake the sale for $19, 000.
Garcia told Lucero that this price was too high, however.

About the same tinme as the drug negotiations between Garcia

and Lucero, separate events were unfolding at the Herrera Law Fi rm

Around the beginning of July (Isnael testified that it was



approximately ten days before July 11), a person identifying
himself as “Lalo” entered the Herrera Law Firm and introduced
himsel f to I smael using Ismael’s drug-dealing brothers Raynond and
Manuel as references.® Lalo told Ismael that he had a kil ogram of
cocai ne and he sought Isnmael’s help in distributing it. | smae
clains that he rejected this offer and had nothing nore to do with
attenpting to introduce Lalo to prospective dealers. However,
Lucero testified that Ismel gave him Lalo s pager nunber and
informed hi mthat Lalo was in Gdessa from Mexi co and t hat he want ed
to neet Lucero so that they could nmake sone noney.

Lucero paged Lal o and several days |later received a call from
him Lalo introduced hinself as a friend of Raynond Herrera, and
Lucero suggested a neeting at Mlo’'s Restaurant. After speaking
wth Lalo, Lucero testified that he imediately called |snuael
Thi s conversation was i ntercepted by authorities. The recording of
the conversation reveal ed that |Ismel was not surprised that Lalo
call ed Lucero, and |Ismael even rem nded Lucero that his nane was
Lal o. The conversation al so reveal ed that | smael encouraged Lucero
to undertake sone sort of endeavor with Lalo, inplying but never
explicitly nmentioning drugs. |snmael also further advi sed Lucero on
how he should proceed. During this conversation, Lucero revealed
to Ismael that he had a guy comng over on Tuesday (neaning

under cover agent Garcia) and so he should have no problem noving

I smael ' s brot hers, Raynond and Manuel Herrera, both reside in
Mexi co and are both apparently drug deal ers.
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the drugs.® In another intercepted tel ephone call on July 11,
1999, Lucero confirmed that he would neet Lalo at MIlo's
Restaurant. Lucero then called Ismael, who instructed Lucero to
cone to his residence so that he could acconpany him to the
meet i ng. Surveillance officers confirned that Lucero went by

| smael’s and that the two nmen then went to the restaurant together

in Ismael’s Toyota Four Runner. The neeting at MIlo's |asted
approximately 25 m nutes. Lucero testified that, at the
restaurant, |Ismael did nost of the talKking. Apparently Lalo

i ndi cated that he had one kil ogramof cocai ne avail abl e but wanted
a partial paynent up front of a couple of thousand dollars. Both
Lucero and Ismael indicated that they did not have the noney but
asked Lalo to “front” themthe cocai ne because Lucero was “good for
it.” Lalo told them he would think about it. | smael asserts,
however, that he never went along with the intention to nmake a drug
deal, but only to keep Lucero from consunmating the deal.

One day |l ater, in another intercepted phone conversation, Lalo
told Lucero that he had spent sone tinme with Lucero’ s uncle (though
he never says which uncle, Lucero testified that he believed he
meant |smael ), and a second neeting was arranged at the notel where
Lal o was staying. Surveillance revealed that Lucero went to the
nmot el and stayed approximately five mnutes. Lucero testifiedthat

he again attenpted to have Lalo front the cocaine because he

5This and the other taped conversations were all heard by the
jury at Ismael’s trial



believed that he could sell the whole kilogramto undercover agent
Garcia. Lalo backed out, however, and |l eft town w thout providing
any cocai ne to Lucero.

On July 13, 1999, Lucero net with undercover agent Garcia
again at MIlo s Restaurant. Garcia purchased three ounces of
cocai ne from Lucero and was told by Lucero that he woul d contact
hi m regarding the sale of one kilogram of cocai ne. On July 16,
1999, in another intercepted phone conversation, Lucero spoke to
| smael conpl aining that Sergio Juarez would not “front” Lucero a
kil ogram of cocai ne. Sergio Juarez was Cctavio’s and Lucero’s
supplier of cocaine, and Isnmael testified at trial that he knew
that Juarez was their supplier. Lucero asked Ismael to help, and
| smael responded that he woul d see Juarez that com ng Sunday at the
Gar dendal e ranch.

Testinony at trial, including Isnmael’s own testinony,
denonstrates that he was a user of cocaine during the last ten
years. |snmmel asserts, however, that he has not used cocai ne since
August 1999. In Decenber 1999, Isnmel’s car was vacuuned and an
ion scan reveal ed trace anounts of cocaine particulates in the car;
there is no indication, however, how the particulates got in the
car or where in the car the particulates cane from Evidence al so
showed that Ismael owned at l|east three firearns, which he
possessed for various lengths of tinme: a .22 caliber derringer

whi ch he had owned for at least two years; a Smth & Wsson . 38



cal i ber revolver, which he had owned for about one year; and . 380
Beretta 9nm sem -autonmatic pistol, which he had owned for four to
si x nont hs. It was stipulated to at trial that the guns were

functional and had traveled in interstate commerce.

DI SCUSSI ON

|s the evidence sufficient to support the jury’'s quilty verdict as
to Count 1, conspiracy to distribute nmore than 500 grans of
cocai ne?

|smael clains that the evidence presented at trial was
insufficient to support his conviction. When reviewi ng such a
claim this Court considers “the evidence, all reasonable
inferences drawn fromit and all credibility determ nations in the
light nost favorable to the Governnent, and affirnfis] if a
reasonable jury could find the offense’s essential el enents beyond
a reasonable doubt.” United States v. Medina, 161 F.3d 867, 872
(5th Gr. 1998). This Court is not to determ ne whether the jury’s
deci sion was correct or not, but rather whether or not the jury’'s
decision was rational. United States v. MIler, 146 F.3d 274, 280
(5th Gr. 1998) (citing United States v. Dean, 59 F.3d 1479, 1484
(5th Gr. 1995)). “W recognize that the jury was free to choose
anong all reasonabl e constructions of the evidence, and we accept
all credibility choices that tend to support the jury' s verdict.”

Dean, 59 F.3d at 1484 (citation and quotations omtted). “However,

we nust reverse a conviction if the evidence construed in favor of



the verdict gives equal or nearly equal circunstantial support to
a theory of guilt and a theory of innocence of the crinme charged.”
ld. (quotations omtted).

To establish a conspiracy under 21 US C 8§ 846, the
governnment nust prove beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) that an
agreenent existed between two or nore persons to violate the
applicabl e narcotics law, (2) that each all eged conspirator knew of
the conspiracy and intended to join it; and (3) that each alleged
conspirator participated voluntarily in the conspiracy. Medina, 161
F.3d at 872. The evidence to support a conspiracy conviction need
not show an explicit agreenent; a tacit agreenent is enough.
United States v. Westbrook, 119 F.3d 1176, 1189 (5th Gr. 1997).
The governnent can prove the existence of a conspiracy by
circunstantial evidence alone. Medina, 161 F.3d at 872. “As |ong
as it is not factually insubstantial or incredible, the
uncorroborated testinony of a co-conspirator, even one who has
chosen to cooperate with the governnent in exchange for non-
prosecution or leniency, may be constitutionally sufficient
evidence to convict.” Westbrook, 119 F.3d at 1190.

| smael bases his argunent on the fact that he believes that
the governnent failed to neet its burden by show ng that he had
know edge of a conspiracy. |smael contends that the standard above
was not met and that the jury could not have cone to its decision

beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Many of the cases that are cited by



| smael in which the defendant’s conviction was reversed, however,
i nvol ved cases in which the only evidence agai nst the def endant was
that he happened to be in the vicinity of the crime and had
associated with the other crimnals. See, e.g., United States v.
Jackson, 700 F.2d 181, 185 (5th Cr. 1983); United States v.
DeSi none, 660 F.2d 532, 537 (5th Cr. 1981). In the present case,
t he evidence clearly showed that | snmael had many conversations with
undertones of a deal that was to be nmade. He acconpani ed Lucero to
MIlo s and took part in discussions regarding “fronting” the
cocai ne, and his co-conspirator, Lucero, testified that |smael took
part in all of these events with the know edge that cocaine was
i nvol ved. |smael even admits that he went with Lucero to MIlo's
and that the purpose of Lucero’'s going there was to consummate a
drug deal. Though | snael argues that he never hel ped Lucero get in
contact with Lalo and that he only went along to disrupt the deal,
the jury was free to nake a credibility determ nation as to whomit
believed. Obviously the jury was not swayed by | snmael’s testi nony,
and there was anpl e evidence to support the jury's verdict.

|s the evidence sufficient to support the jury’'s guilty verdict as

to Count 14, attenpt to possess nore than 500 grans of cocaine with
intent to distribute?

The standard of review articul ated above for a sufficiency of
the evidence claim is the sanme standard used here. “To be
convicted of attenpt under 21 U S.C. § 846, a defendant ‘nust have

been acting with the kind of cul pability otherw se required for the

10



comm ssion of the crinme which he is charged with attenpting,’” and
‘“must have engaged in conduct which constitutes a substantial step
toward commssion of the cringe’ I.e., conduct ‘strongly
corroborative of the firmess of the defendant’s crimnal intent.’”
United States v. Stone, 960 F.2d 426, 433 (5th Gr. 1992) (quoting
United States v. Mandujano, 499 F.2d 370, 376 (5th Cr. 1974)).
The crux of Ismael’s argunent is that no substantial step was taken
toward the comm ssion of the crine. | smael contends this is
evidenced by the fact that no noney ever changed hands between
| smael, Lucero and Lal o and no drugs were ever received. This, of
course ignores the fact that the duo were attenpting to get Lalo to
“front” them the cocaine, which would not require any noney. It
al so ignores the fact that had the conversation with Lalo “bor[n]

fruit,” the charge would not be attenpt to possess with intent to
distribute but actual possession with intent to distribute. The
evi dence before the jury was therefore sufficient to support the
verdi ct.

Did a fatal variance exist between the conspiracy alleged in the
indictnent (Count 1) and the proof offered at trial?

To prevail on a material variance claim a defendant nust
prove (1) a variance between the indictnent and the proof at trial,
and (2) that the variance affected the defendant’s substanti al
rights. United States v. Mrrow, 177 F.3d 272, 291 (5th Cr.
1999) (citing United States v. Mrgan, 117 F.3d 849, 858 (5th Gr.

1997)). “Whether the evidence shows one or nmultiple conspiracies

11



is aquestion of fact for the jury.” 1d. Wen counting the nunber
of conspiracies, this Court will consider (1) the existence of a
common goal ; (2) the nature of the schene; and (3) the overl apping
of the participants in the various dealings. Mrgan, 117 F.3d at
858. This Court will affirmthe jury s finding that the Governnent
proved a single conspiracy unless the evidence and all reasonable
i nferences, examned in the |ight nost favorable to t he Gover nnent,
woul d preclude reasonable jurors fromfinding a single conspiracy
beyond a reasonabl e doubt. | d. “A reversal based on variance
between the indictnment and proof requires two findings: (1) that
the trial evidence actually proved nultiple conspiracies, and (2)
that the variance affected a substantial right of the appellant.”
United States v. Sharpe, 193 F. 3d 852, 866 (5th Gr. 1999) (citing
United States v. Franklin, 148 F.3d 451, 459 (5th Gr. 1998)).
Even if multiple conspiracies are proven at trial, however, if an
i ndictnment alleges a single conspiracy count, and the governnent
proves the defendant’s involvenent in at |east one of them then
there is no variance affecting the defendant’s substantial rights.
Medi na, 161 F.3d at 872.

| smael argues that the evidence is insufficient to prove a
conspiracy, and that the proof offered at trial was to nmultiple

conspiracies.’ As stated above, however, there was anpl e evi dence

Though Isnmmel’s argunent is not clear on this point, the
cases cited by Ismael all reference nultiple conspiracies.
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to support the jury’'s verdict. Furthernore, even if the governnent
did prove the existence of nultiple conspiracies, it also proved
| smael’s involvenent in at |least one of them i.e. the attenpted
drug deal with Lalo and Lucero at MI|o' s restaurant. | smael

therefore, can not showthat his substantial rights were affected.
|s the evidence sufficient to support the jury’'s gquilty verdict as

to Count 16, use of a controlled substance and possession of a
firearmon or about Decenber 9, 19997

Finally, Ismael asserts that the evidence was insufficient to
support a guilty verdict as to Count 16 of his indictnment alleging
possession of a firearmwhile being an unlawful user or addict of
control |l ed substances in violation of 18 U S.C. 8 922(g)(3). The
standard of review articulated above for a sufficiency of the
evidence claimis the sane standard used here. Section 922(g)(3)
st at es:

It shall be unlawful for any person-
(3) who is an unlawful user of or addicted to
any controlled substance (as defined in
section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act
(21 U S.C 802));
fbllship or transport in interstate or foreign
commerce, or possess in or affecting comrerce, any
firearmor ammunition; or to receive any firearmor
anmuni ti on whi ch has been shipped or transported in
interstate or foreign conmerce.
18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g) (enphasis added). Count 16 of the indictnent
st at es:
That on or about Decenber 9, 1999, in the Western

District of Texas, the Defendant, who is an
unl awful wuser of and addicted to a controlled

13



substance, did knowi ngly possess in and affecting
commerce firearns, to wit: a Smth & Wsson .38
caliber revolver; a Beretta 9mm sem -automatic
pistol; and a Davis .22 caliber derringer, which
had been shipped and transported in interstate
conmer ce.

The jury charge, as to this count, stated, in pertinent part, that
tofind Isnael guilty of the offense, the jury had to be convinced
beyond a reasonabl e doubt:

That the defendant was an unlawful wuser of or

addicted to a controlled substance, as charged.

The jury nust unani nously agree as to one or the

other, user or addict, or both, if the jury
bel i eves the governnent has net its burden.

The tinme period involved in this count is a tine
period in reasonable proximty to Decenber 9, 1999.
An addict is defined as any individual who
habi tual Il y uses any narcotic drug so as to endanger
the public norals, health, safety, or welfare, or
who is so far addicted to the use of narcotic drugs
as to have lost the power of self-control wth
reference to his addiction.

The term “user” is defined in accordance with its
common and ordi nary neani ng.

| smael argues that the governnent presented absolutely no evidence
at trial that Ismael is an addict. Ismael further avers that no
evi dence was presented indicating that |snmael had used drugs after
August of 1999, and that it therefore failed to establish that he
had used drugs and possessed a firearmin a close proximty to the
time period alleged, i.e. Decenber 9, 1999.

Before turning to the sufficiency of the evidence, however,

because the governnent and Herrera di sagree as to what is required

14



by the statute, we nust determ ne what neaning the phrase “is an
unl awf ul user of or addicted to any control |l ed substance” shoul d be
given. In questions of statutory interpretation, we |ook to the
text, structure, and legislative history of the provision in
question, as well as to the determ nations nmnade by our sister
circuits. Stucky v. Cty of San Antonio, 260 F.3d 424, 440 (5th
Cr. 2001). Very few cases have dealt specifically wth
interpreting 18 U S.C 8 922(g)(3). In United States v. Edwards,
182 F. 3d 333 (5th Gr. 1999), this Court was faced with a vagueness
challenge to 8 922(g)(3). At the outset, this Court noted that
vagueness chal | enges that do not i nplicate First Arendnent freedons
are reviewed only in light of the facts of the case at hand. Id.
at 335. The Court then determ ned that, because the defendant was
found with marijuana and cocai ne at his resi dence on the sane ni ght
they found a gun on the defendant, and due to the defendant’s own
adm ssion that he snoked marijuana on a daily basis, the statute
was not vague as applied and the conviction would stand. 1d. at
336. The Court in Edwards did not attenpt to define the statute
nmore preci sely, however, possibly because the defendant’s status as
an “unlawful user” or “addict” was w thout question. Oher cases
involving the sufficiency of the evidence have simlarly upheld
convi cti ons when the circunstances made it clear that the defendant
was an “unl awful user” or “addict,” but these cases never attenpted

to define the terns of the statute. See, e.g., United States v.
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Jackson, 280 F.3d 403, 406 (4th Gr. 2002) (noting that, while the
“exact reach of the statute is not easy to define. . . this is not
a borderline case”); United States v. McIntosh, 23 F. 3d 1454, 1458-
59 (8th Gr. 1994) (upholding conviction when defendant had
admtted to addiction and also had controlled substances on him
when arrested with firearm. These cases have, however, narrowed
the statute’s scope sonewhat, requiring that the governnent prove
a defendant was an “unlawful wuser” or addicted to a controlled
subst ance during the tine he possessed firearns. MIlntosh, 23 F. 3d
at 1458. There are also sone courts that have distinguished
bet ween present and past drug use, but those cases nmay have been in
the context that the drug use occurred before gun possession. In
United States v. Reed, 114 F.3d 1067 (10th G r. 1997), the Tenth

Circuit seenmed to inplicitly acknow edge that 922(g)(3) prohibits

possessi on of a weapon by one who “is” a user, not one who “was” a
user. 1d. at 1069. Utimtely, however, the court concluded that
the district court’s decision to dismss based on vagueness was
premature and remanded the case. I1d. at 1071. More recently, the
Ninth Grcuit stated that i nfrequent drug use fromthe di stant past
could present a vagueness challenge to the “unlawful wuser”
| anguage. United States v. Purdy, 264 F.3d 809, 812 (9th Cr.
2001) (citing United States v. Qcegueda, 564 F.2d 1363, 1366 (9th
Cr. 1977) which was based on 922(g)(3)’s predecessor statute of 18

US C 8 922(h)(3)). The conviction in that case was al so upheld

16



in light of evidence revealing the defendant’s drug use just two
days prior to a gun’s seizure in his hone as well as testinony
i ndicating his continued drug use. 1d. at 810-11. The court did
state, however, that “to sustain a conviction under 8§ 922(g)(3),
t he governnent nust prove--as it did here--that the defendant took
drugs with regularity, over an extended period of tine, and
cont enporaneously with his purchase or possession of a firearm”
|d. at 812-13. This does not nean that 8§ 922(g)(3) requires that
t he def endant possess a firearmwhile unlawfully using a controll ed
substance, but only that the defendant is an unlawful wuser.
Jackson, 280 F.3d at 406. A review of the relevant case |aw
provides little further guidance on this issue than that provided
by Purdy and Jackson.

Having found little guidance in the relevant case | aw, we are
forced to ook to the terns’ ordinary neanings. “Wen a word is

not defined by statute, we normally construe it in accord with its

ordinary or natural neaning.” Smth v. United States, 508 U S
223, 228 (1993). The term “is” is the present third-person
singular form of the word “be” or “to be.” Whbster’s Third New

Wrld Dictionary 1197 (1971). The term “unlawful” is defined by
Black’s Law Dictionary as an adjective neaning: 1) Not authorized
by law, illegal; 2) Crimmnally punishable; 3) Involving noral
turpitude. Oher texts define the term“unlawful” simlarly. No

federal statute specifically nakes it illegal, however, to be a
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“user” of drugs, though possession, distribution and transportation
are all made illegal.® See generally 21 US. C 8§ 801 - 971
(covering drug abuse prevention and control). Li kewi se, no
statutes in the state of Texas, the state Herrera was convicted in,
crimnalize the status of being a “user.” It may well be that
nei ther Congress nor the states can nake the status of being a

“user,” by itself, illegal in light of Suprene Court precedent.?
Robi nson v. State of Calif., 370 U.S. 660 (1962). Therefore, the
only definition of “unlawful” that m ght be applicableis the third

of “involving noral turpitude.” A “user” is defined as “one that

8Section 801 of Title 21 seens to indicate this by stating:

The il l egal inportation, manufacture, distribution,
and possession and inproper wuse of <controlled
substances have a substantial and detrinental
effect on the health and general welfare of the
Aneri can peopl e.

21 U S.C 8801 (2) (enphasis added). Section 801 does not nention

the illegal use of controlled substances, only the i nproper use of

control | ed substances.

°l'n United States v. Robinson, 370 U S. 660 (1962), the
Suprene Court reviewed a California statute that crimnalized the
status of being an addict. 1d. at 660-61. Witing for the Court,
Justice Stewart, in referring to the treatnent of addicts stated:
The i npact that an addi ct has on a community causes
alarmand often | eads to punitive neasures. Those
measures are often justified when they relate to
acts of transgression. But | do not see how under
our system being an addict can be punished as a
crinme. If addicts can be punished for their
addi ction, then the i nsane al so can be puni shed for
their insanity.
ld. at 674. The Court concl uded t hat because the statute was ai ned
at penalizing a sickness rather than at providing nedical care for
it, it could not withstand a chall enge under the Ei ght Amendnent.
ld. at 678.

18



uses; specif.: a person who uses alcoholic beverages or
narcotics.”® \Wbster’'s Third New Wrld Dictionary 2524 (1971).
Finally, an addict is defined by the Controll ed Substances Act as
bei ng “any individual who habitually uses any narcotic drug so as
to endanger the public norals, health, safety, or welfare, or who
is so far addicted to the use of narcotic drugs as to have | ost the
power of self-control with reference to his addiction.”! 21 U S.C
§ 802 (1).

The case | aw and the common and ordi nary neani ng of the terns
used in the statute, therefore, still give us little guidance.
From Purdy and the common use of the word “is,” it seens clear that
the statute requires a contenporaneous possession of firearns with
the status of being an “unlawful user” or “addict” of controlled
subst ances. The term “addict” is adequately defined in the
Controll ed Substances Act so as to give clear guidance as to the
meani ng of that term The words “unlawful user” are not as clear.
The comon and ordinary use of the word “user” would seemto nean
anyone who uses narcotics. Had Congress chosen to insert only that
word, then the outconme of this exercise in statutory construction

m ght end right there. Congress chose to nodify the word “user”

oAt trial, the government suggested giving the term“user” its
comon and ordi nary neaning. The trial court appears to have
adopt ed the governnent’s suggesti on.

UThis was the definition for “addict” that the trial court
chose to use in its jury charge.
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with the word “unlawful,” however, and so we nust exam ne what is
an “unlawful wuser.” As stated above, being a “user” is not by
itself illegal under any federal or state statute. Congress could
not have used the words “unlawful wuser” to refer to conduct
prohi bited by statute. W turn therefore to the legislative
hi story of 8 922 for guidance. “Were, as here, the resolution of
a question of federal law turns on a statute and the intention of
Congress, we |look first to the statutory |anguage and then to the
| egislative history if the statutory |anguage is unclear.” Toibb
v. Radloff, 501 U. S. 157, 162 (1991) (quoting Blumyv. Stenson, 465
U S. 886, 896 (1984)).

Section 922's predecessor was passed in 1968, but originally
did not contain any provision regarding drug use. S. Rep. No. 1097
(1968), reprinted in 1968 U S.C.C A N 2205 (prohibiting felons,
fugitives, or those under indictnment from shipping or receiving
firearns in 8 922(e) and (f)). The “Purpose of Amendnent” section
of the Senate Report stated that the purpose of the act was to “aid
in mking it possible to keep firearns out of the hands of those
not legally entitled to possess them because of age, crimna
background, or inconpetency.” 1d. at 2213; see al so Huddl eston v.
United States, 415 U. S. 814, 824 (1974). Later that sane year, the
House anended 8 922 by adding 922(Qq). @Gun Control Act of 1968,
Pub. L. 90-618. The “Section-by-Section Analysis” of the House

Report st at ed:
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This subsection originally made it unlawful for a

felon, fugitive, or one under indictnment to receive

a firearm or ammunition which has been shipped or

transported in interstate or foreign comerce.

Under a conmttee anendnent anyone who is an

unl awful wuser of or addicted to marihuana, any

depressant or stinmulant drug (as defined in sec.

201(v) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosnetic Act),

or a narcotic drug (as defined in sec. 4731(a) of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1954); or has been

adj udi cated in any court as a nental defective or

has been commtted under a court order to any

mental institution, also would be prohibited from

receiving a firearm or amunition shipped in

interstate or foreign commerce.
H R Rep. No. 1577 (1968), reprinted in 1968 U S.C C A N 4421
The Suprene Court has stated that “Congress’ intent in enacting
88 922(g) and (h) . . . was to keep firearns out of the hands of
presunptively risky people.” D ckerson v. New Banner Instit.,
Inc., 460 U S. 103, 113 n.6 (1983). The Court also stated that
“Congress sought to rule broadly -- to keep guns out of the hands
of those who have denonstrated that they may not be trusted to
possess a firearm w thout becomng a threat to society.” 1d. at
112 (internal quotations and citations omtted). Mre recently,
the Second Circuit noted that the purpose of the Gun Control Act
was to prohibit the ownership of firearns by “nentally unstable” or
“Irresponsi bl e” persons. United States v. Waters, 23 F.3d 29, 35
(2d Cir. 1994). These general statenents, however, add little to
the purposes stated by Congress other than a concern for keeping
guns out of the hands of dangerous individuals. As this Court can

find no nore information as to why 8§ 922(g)(3) was enacted, we are
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left only with the vague statenent in the Senate Report that
Congress intended to keep guns out of the hands of those who have
crim nal backgrounds, are inconpetent or are too young. These were
stated purposes for the entire section, however, and not just the
section pertaining to drug use.

When, after seizing everything fromwhich aid can be derived,
the statute renmai ns anbi guous, the rule of lenity nmay be applied.
Smth, 508 U S. at 239 (citing United States v. Bass, 404 U. S. 336,
347 (1971)); Rewis v. United States, 401 U S 808, 812 (1971)
(“[ Al mbi guity concerning the anbit of crimnal statutes should be
resolved in favor of lenity.”). “If uncertainty remains after our
interpretation of the text and its underlying policies, the rule of
lenity requires a narrow construction of the law.” United States
v. Prestenbach, 230 F.3d 780, 784 n.23 (5th Gr. 2000); Adano
Wecking Co. v. United States, 434 U S 275, 284-285 (1978)
(“[Where there is anbiguity in a crimnal statute, doubts are
resolved in favor of the defendant.”). Though this Court reserves

lenity only for those situations in which “a reasonable doubt
persists about a statute’s intended scope even after resort to the
| anguage and structure, legislative history, and notivating
policies of the statute,” Mskal v. United States, 498 U S. 103,
108 (1990) (quotations omtted), we believe that this is just such

an occasi on.
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Gving the term a narrow construction, we hold that an
“unl awful user” is one who uses narcotics so frequently and i n such
quantities as to | ose the power of self control and thereby pose a
danger to the public norals, health, safety, or welfare. In other
words, an “unl awful user” is soneone whose use of narcotics falls
just short of addiction, as that termis defined by the Controlled
Substances Act. This reading of the termis consistent with the
| anguage of the legislative history as well as holdings of our
sister circuits.! See, e.g. Purdy, 264 F.3d at 812; Jackson, 280
F.3d at 406.

Havi ng thoroughly analyzed 8§ 922(g)(3) and its neaning, we
turn to the evidence presented to the jury to determine if there
exi sted sufficient evidence on which to convict |Ismael Herrera on
Count 16.

Initially, we note that, despite |anguage in the indictnent,
t he governnment has not argued that the evidence in this case would
support a jury finding that Herrera was “addicted to” any
controlled substance at any tinme contenporaneously wth his
possession of a firearm Upon review of the evidence we find that
if the governnent had nmade such an argunent, it would have been
tenuous at best. W review the evidence, therefore, to test its

sufficiency as to Herrera’s being an “unl awful user,” view ng such

2| ndeed, the government itself conceded at oral argunent that
to be prosecuted under 8§ 922(g)(3), the drug use woul d have to be
wth regularity and over an extended period of tine.
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evidence in a light nost favorable to the jury verdict. At trial,
| smael testified that he began using marijuana after he returned
fromthe VietnamWar. Isnmael also admtted to using cocai ne during
the past ten years and also to possessing firearnms in an
over |l apping tine period over the past two years. Therefore, there
is no question that |Ismael was a user of drugs while he possessed
firearns. But as we stated above, it is not his status as a user
t hat nmust be established but his status as an “unlawful user.”

At trial, Jesus Lucero testifiedto the follow ng: that he saw
| smael use cocaine about twice a nonth; that Lucero would give
smal | anounts of cocaine to |Ismael on occasion; that |smael did not
use cocaine while at work; that |Isnmael wused cocaine pretty
consistently up until he got arrested; that Isnmael attenpted to
quit using cocaine in August of 1999; that |snmael was unsuccessf ul
in this attenpt to quit; that Lucero had not done cocaine with
| smael since March of 1999; that Lucero had seen a gun in |Isnael’s
car before, and; that Lucero had only seen I smael use small anounts
of cocaine at his house or at parties. Aaron Herrera testified:
that he had seen |Isnmel use cocaine on a very few occasions at
parties at Jesse Herrera's house; that |Ismael had asked Aaron for
cocai ne at work before; that though Aaron had not seen |snael use
cocai ne at work, he suspected he had used it at work; that in the

two-and-a-half years that he worked with Ismael, he had used
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cocaine with himapproximately three tinmes, and; that he had seen
a gun in Ismael’s briefcase at work before.

Ri ck Aranda testified: that since he had started working with
| smael in 1993, he had seen |smael use cocaine once or tw ce at
wor k; that he had given | smael cocaine at work at |Ismael’s request;
that he had only seen |Isnael use cocaine a total of two to four
tinmes; that Jesse Herrera held parties approximately once a nonth
and that cocaine was used at these parties; that Ismael rarely
attended these parties; that about once every two weeks | snael
woul d ask Aranda for cocaine; that he had been fired from the
Herrera Law Firmin Novenber of 1998 and had not seen |smael since
that tine; that he had seen Isnmael in possession of a firearmin
1993, and; that he believed |Isnael was successful in his attenpts
to quit using cocaine. |Isnmael Herrera testified: that he was an
occasi onal user of cocaine; that he mainly used cocai ne on Fridays
and Sat urdays and occasionally during the week but not every week
or weekend; that he woul d sonetines go a nonth or two w thout using
cocai ne; that he had not used cocai ne since August of 1999 when his
sister died; that he had owned a derringer for two years, a .38 for
one year, and a .380 Beretta for three or four nonths; that he
possessed these guns during a tinme period that he was using
cocaine; that he had a firearmin his briefcase at work; that he
had used cocaine at work; that in 1998, he would sonetines use as

much as one gram of cocai ne every two or three weeks, and; that in
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1999, previous to quitting, he would sonetinmes use as nuch as one
gram a week. The only other evidence presented to the jury as to
| smael ’ s drug use was the cocaine particulates found fromthe ion
scan of the vacuunmed contents of his car.

No testinony presented at trial indicates that |snmael posed a
danger to others with respect to his cocai ne use or that |smael was
a dangerous individual because of his use.?® The gover nnment
presented no evidence that Isnmael’s use of cocaine caused himto
| ose the power of self control and thereby pose a danger to the
public norals, health, safety, or welfare. At nost, the evidence
can only establish that Ismael was a user of small anpunts of
cocai ne prior to August of 1999, with his frequency of use varying
fromusing every week to sonetines not at all for nonths at a tine.
Though this Court does not condone his behavior, Ismael’s use can
not be said torise to the I evel of being an “unl awful user” as we
have determ ned that Congress intended such term to nean. W
therefore conclude that the jury was presented with insufficient
evi dence on which to convict Ismael Herrera of Count 16. As we
hol d that the evidence is insufficient to establish that |smael was

an “unl awful user,” we need not delve into whether or not the

13As we have already noted, Congress’ intention was to keep
guns out of the hands of dangerous or inconpetent individuals, but
the nere possession of firearns by a user of narcotics does not
automatically make that individual dangerous or inconpetent. An
i ndividual’s regular use of narcotics over an extended period of
time nmust first pose a danger to the public norals, health, safety
and wel fare before his possession of firearns i s prohibited.
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governnent failed to establish that he had used drugs and possessed
a firearmin a close proximty to the tine period alleged in the

i ndi ct nent.

CONCLUSI ON

Having carefully reviewed the record of this case and the
parties’ respective briefing and for the reasons set forth above,
we conclude that the jury was presented with sufficient evidence on
which to convict Ismael Herrera on Counts 1 and 14 and that no
fatal variance existed as to Count 1. As to Count 16, we hold that
there was insufficient evidence to convict Isnmael Herrera because
the evidence presented to the jury failed to establish that he was
an “unl awful user.” W therefore AFFIRMIsnael’s conviction as to
Count 1 and 14 but REVERSE as to Count 16.

AFFI RVED | N PART, and REVERSED | N PART.
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DUPLANTI ER, District Judge, dissenting in part:

| concur in the majority opinion, except with respect to the
reversal of defendant’s conviction on Count 16. That count charges
defendant with knowi ngly possessing firearnms while he was an
"unl awful user of and addicted to" a controlled substance, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8922(g)(3). | disagree with the majority’s
conclusion that the phrase "unlawful wuser" renders the statute
anbi guous, thereby warranting the application of the rule of
lenity, and mandating a narrow construction of the phrase.

Citing defendant’s own testinony, the majority states that
"Ismael was a user of drugs while he possessed firearns," but
concludes that he was not an "unlawful user." Clearly,
defendant’s use of drugs was not a |awful use. One who "uses" a
controlled substance nmnust necessarily also "possess" that
controlled substance. Title 21 U.S.C. 8844 nmakes it "unlawful for
any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled
subst ance" except under circunstances not rel evant here. Thus,
any person who unlawfully possesses a controlled substance and
uses that substance is an "unlawful user"” w thin the neaning of the
statute at issue. Congress apparently concl uded that any
i ndi vidual who unlawfully uses a controlled substance shoul d not
cont enpor aneously possess a firearm because such a user could
wel | have inpaired judgnent and pose a threat to society. This is

equally true of a first-tine user as it is of one who uses drugs
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frequently. In the statute Congress nodified "user" by the
adj ective "unlawful ," so as not to include persons who | awmful |y use
drugs, e.g. by a physician’s prescription.

Based on defendant’s own testinony, there is sufficient
evidence to support the jury's finding that defendant know ngly
possessed firearns while he was an "unl awful user" of a controlled
substance. The only remaining issue is whether there is sufficient
evidence to conclude that defendant unlawfully used drugs and
possessed a firearmin close proximty to the date alleged in the
indictnment, i.e., "on or about Decenber 9, 1999."

The governnent need not prove the exact date on which the
defendant violated the statute. "It is well established in this
Circuit that the alleged tine of the offense is not an essenti al
el emrent of the offense charged in the indictnent.” United States
v. Powers, 168 F.3d 741, 746 (5'" Cir. (1999). "It is sufficient
if the evidence denonstrates a date reasonably near the date
alleged in the indictnent." United States v. Bowran, 783 F.2d
1192, 1197 (5" Cir. 1986). "[Within reasonable linmts, proof of
any date before the return of the indictnment and within the statute
of limtations is sufficient.” United States v. Lokey, 945 F.2d
825, 832 (5'" Cir. 1991) (internal citation and quotation onitted).
There is sufficient evidence to support a concl usion that defendant
possessed firearns while he unlawfully used a control |l ed substance

w thin several nonths of the date charged in the indictnent, a tine
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period "reasonably near" the date alleged in the indictnent. See
United States v. Bowran, 783 F.2d 1192, 1197 (5'" Cir. 1986)(nine
nmont h vari ance between nailing date alleged in indictnment and date
to which witness testified at trial not fatal).

| would affirm defendant’s conviction on Count 16.
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DUPLANTI ER, District Judge, dissenting in part:

| concur in the majority opinion, except with respect to the
reversal of defendant’s conviction on Count 16. That count charges
defendant with knowi ngly possessing firearnms while he was an
"unl awful user of and addicted to" a controlled substance, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8922(g)(3). | disagree with the majority’s
conclusion that the phrase "unlawful wuser" renders the statute
anbi guous, thereby warranting the application of the rule of
lenity, and mandating a narrow construction of the phrase.

Citing defendant’s own testinony, the majority states that
"Ismael was a user of drugs while he possessed firearns," but
concludes that he was not an "unlawful user." Clearly,
defendant’s use of drugs was not a |awful use. One who "uses" a
controlled substance nmnust necessarily also "possess" that
controlled substance. Title 21 U.S.C. 8844 nmakes it "unlawful for
any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled
subst ance" except under circunstances not rel evant here. Thus,
any person who unlawfully possesses a controlled substance and
uses that substance is an "unlawful user"” w thin the neaning of the
statute at issue. Congress apparently concl uded that any
i ndi vidual who unlawfully uses a controlled substance shoul d not
cont enpor aneously possess a firearm because such a user could
wel | have inpaired judgnent and pose a threat to society. This is

equally true of a first-tine user as it is of one who uses drugs
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frequently. In the statute Congress nodified "user" by the
adj ective "unlawful ," so as not to include persons who | awmful |y use
drugs, e.g. by a physician’s prescription.

Based on defendant’s own testinony, there is sufficient
evidence to support the jury's finding that defendant know ngly
possessed firearns while he was an "unl awful user" of a controlled
substance. The only remaining issue is whether there is sufficient
evidence to conclude that defendant unlawfully used drugs and
possessed a firearmin close proximty to the date alleged in the
indictnment, i.e., "on or about Decenber 9, 1999."

The governnent need not prove the exact date on which the
defendant violated the statute. "It is well established in this
Circuit that the alleged tine of the offense is not an essenti al
el emrent of the offense charged in the indictnent.” United States
v. Powers, 168 F.3d 741, 746 (5'" Cir. (1999). "It is sufficient
if the evidence denonstrates a date reasonably near the date
alleged in the indictnent." United States v. Bowran, 783 F.2d
1192, 1197 (5" Cir. 1986). "[Within reasonable linmts, proof of
any date before the return of the indictnment and within the statute
of limtations is sufficient.” United States v. Lokey, 945 F.2d
825, 832 (5'" Cir. 1991) (internal citation and quotation onitted).
There is sufficient evidence to support a concl usion that defendant
possessed firearns while he unlawfully used a control |l ed substance

w thin several nonths of the date charged in the indictnent, a tine
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period "reasonably near" the date alleged in the indictnent. See
United States v. Bowran, 783 F.2d 1192, 1197 (5'" Cir. 1986)(nine
nmont h vari ance between nailing date alleged in indictnment and date
to which witness testified at trial not fatal).

| would affirm defendant’s conviction on Count 16.
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